NO. 43204-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

vs.

CHRISTOPHER NELSON MAYNARD,

Respondent.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LACEY SKALISKY W.S.B.A # 41295 Deputy Prosecutor for Appellant

Hall of Justice 312 SW First Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

-

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #7 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #10 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #11 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #12 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #13 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #14 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #15 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #16 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #19 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.

- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #20 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- The State assigns error to Finding of Fact #21 as there was not substantial evidence to support this finding.
- 12. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number one.
- The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number two.
- The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number three.
- 15. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number four.
- The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law number five.
- 17. The trial court erred in dismissing the charges of one count of Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree, and five counts of Malicious Mischief in the Third Degree.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court have substantial evidence to support its findings of fact?

- 2. Did the trial court err in determining that preaccusatorial delay violated the defendant's due process rights?
- 3. Did the trial court err in concluding that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 15, 2010, the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office received Woodland Police Department report #10-2316. CP 18 at 1. On September 22, 2010, that report was assigned to a deputy prosecuting attorney to review for a charging decision. CP 18 at 1.

On October 20, 2010, the State reviewed the submitted report and made the decision not to charge at that time as more information was needed before a finding of probable cause to support a diversion referral. CP 18 at 1-2. On the case evaluation sheet, the State requested that the investigating officer include any photos of the graffiti, the name of the reporting party for specific instances of graffiti and the exact location of certain graffiti. CP 18 at 2.

On November 17, 2010, the Woodland Police Department resubmitted the report to the Cowlitz County Prosecutor's office. CP 18 at

2. On November 24, 2010, the assigned deputy prosecuting attorney reviewed the police report, found there was probable cause, and submitted it to the Cowlitz County Juvenile Department's diversion unit for consideration. CP 18 at 2.

The juvenile department's diversion unit rejected Maynard and on December 10, 2010, returned the report to the prosecutor's office. Cp 18 at 2. Upon review, the deputy prosecuting attorney determined that more information was needed to file charges and returned the report to the Woodland Police Department with a request for follow-up information. CP 18 at 2.

On January 20, 2011, the Woodland Police Department returned the report to the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office. CP 18 at 2. On that same date it was once again assigned to a deputy prosecuting attorney. CP 18 at 2.

Between January 20, 2011 and April 15, 2011, the State made a request to the investigating officer for more information, specifically in regards to restitution amounts owed to the victims. CP 18 at 2.

On April 15, 2011, the investigating officer responded through email to the previous inquiry about restitution for each of the cases. CP 18 at 2.

On April 18, 2011, the deputy prosecuting attorney then responded back to the investigating officer and requested further information before charging. CP 18 at 2. The officer responded to that inquiry on April 23, 2011. CP 18 at 2. A further request for information from the officer was made by the State on May 9, 2011 and responded to by the officer on May 25, 2011. Cp 18 at 2-3.

On June 16, 2011, after the final information was received from the Woodland Police Department, the State reviewed and charged it. CP 18 at 3. At this time the Information was sent to the Cowlitz County Juvenile Department for filing. CP 18 at 3.

On July 12, 2011, the respondent was summonsed into the Cowlitz County Superior Court – Juvenile Department by the juvenile probation office for his first appearance on cause number 11-8-00242-2. CP 18 at 3. At that hearing, Maynard was present when probable cause was found, Tierra Busby was appointed as his counsel and an arraignment date of July 19, 2011 was set. CP 18 at 3.

On July 19, 2011, Maynard was present with counsel where he waived a formal reading of the information, entered a plea of not guilty and dates were set for a pre-trial hearing on August 9, 2011, readiness hearing September 13, 2011 and a fact-finding on September 15, 2011. CP 18 at 3.

On July 25, 2011, the State made an Offer/Sentencing Recommendation in regards to Maynard's charges which was sent to his attorney. CP 12, Ex. 12. The State then called the deputy Superior Court Clerk assigned to the juvenile offender cases to determine whether or not the court's jurisdiction had been extended at the arraignment as the State's case file notes did not indicate it had been. CP 18 at 3. The clerk's notes also did not reflect the extension of jurisdiction either. CP 18 at 3. Then, the State sent an electronic message to Tierra Busby noting the respondent's birth date and that the juvenile court, according to both the State's notes and those of the court clerk, had not extended jurisdiction. CP 18 at 3. The deputy prosecuting attorney inquired about what defense counsel wanted to do in that situation and informed her of the consequences of not taking any action. CP 18 at 3.

On August 9, 2011, Maynard appeared in court for his pre-trial hearing. CP 18 at 4. At that time the State moved to dismiss the case as the defendant had turned 18 on August 1, 2011 without a written order extending the jurisdiction of the juvenile court being filed prior to his 18th birthday. CP 18 at 4. The court granted the motion as the statutory requirements were not met. CP 18 at 4.

On August 15, 2011, the report was referred to the adult superior court for re-filing. CP 18 at 4. The matter was subsequently filed in adult superior court on August 26, 2011. CP 1. In adult superior court, the defendant appeared pursuant to a summons, at which time the court appointed a new attorney to represent the defendant. CP 12. The attorney then filed a motion to dismiss the charges on December 8, 2011. CP 11. The superior court held a hearing on that motion and granted the motion to dismiss. RP 1-56.

IV. ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews a trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Michielli</u>, 132 Wash.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on untenable or unreasonable grounds. <u>State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker</u>, 79 Wash.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT AS THERE WAS NOT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THESE FINDINGS.

A court's finding of fact must be supported by substantial evidence. <u>State v. Stevenson</u>, 128 Wn.App. 179, 193, 114 P.3d 699 (2005). Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the finding's truth. *Id*.

In Maynard's case, finding of fact #10 reads as follows:

Between December 10, 2011 and June 16, 2011, the prosecutor exchanged a number of e-mails with the Woodland Police department, seeking "more information, specifically in regards to restitution amounts owed to the victims." *See* Affirmation of Lacey Skalisky, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney. The state made these repeated requests in spite of the fact that the police reports and the probable cause statements already provided contained a detailed statement of the damages each victim has sustained.

CP 20. The probable cause sheet referenced a single offense of Malicious Mischief 2. CP 3. It did not list any other counts of malicious mischief in the "Offense" section, but the actual probable cause statement does detail more incidents of graffiti. CP 3. The next pertinent part of the probable cause sheet is that of the "Victim Information." CP 3. It lists five separate victims as follows: City of Woodland, Woodland Little League, Woodland

Auto Supply, Eager Beaver, and U-Haul. CP 3. However, the probable cause statement only lists restitution as follows amounts: one for City of Woodland - \$316.88, another for City of Woodland - \$538.00, one from Lewis River Little League - \$860.80 and one from U-Haul - \$609.00. CP 3. This same information was contained in the police reports.

There was no evidence that either the probable cause statement or the police reports contained the information the State requested for the other victims. A charge of Malicious Mischief in the second degree may be based on a dollar amount of damage, thus it is information a prosecutor should request prior to making a charging decision. Therefore, there was not substantial evidence to support finding of fact #10, and it was made in error.

In Maynard's case Finding of Fact #13 states:

On July 12, 2011, the defendant appeared on the summons, at which time the juvenile court appointed Tierra Busby to represent him. The court then put the matter over one week for arraignment. Although the normal procedure during the first appearance would have been for the court to extend jurisdiction for an offender such as the defendant who was close to turning eighteen years of age, the court did not do so in this case. Neither the court, the prosecutor and the probation officer in charge of the case mentioned that the defendant would be eighteen years old within a few weeks. [sic].

CP 20. Tierra Busby, the defendant's juvenile court appointed attorney, testified that she is not present for a defendant's first appearance in court, only the prosecutor and probation officer. RP12. There is no other testimony provided concerning the "normal procedure" for the court except that given by Ms. Busby who admitted she is not present at those appearances. Additionally, there is no testimony, nor is there anything contained within this cause number's record that would support a finding that there was nothing mentioned concerning the defendant's age at the time of first appearance. The only conclusion that can be drawn based on the evidence provided is that the juvenile court did not extend jurisdiction at that time. Thus, there is no substantial evidence to show what the normal procedure of the court is, nor is there substantial evidence to support the defendant's age was not mentioned at the initial appearance as stated in finding of fact #13.

A few findings of fact contain basic f actual errors. In Finding of Fact #11, it states the defendant was charge five counts of malicious mischief, when he was charged with one count of malicious mischief in the second degree and five counts of malicious mischief in the third degree. CP 1. Finding of Fact #12 states in pertinent part that the defendant was summonsed "to appear on July 12, 2011, which was 19 days before he turned 21years-old." CP 20. Turning age 21 has no bearing on the matter. The age at issue would be 18 years of age as that is when the juvenile court no longer has jurisdiction over a person unless it has been extended in writing prior to that date. RCW 13.40.300. The defendant's birth date is August 1, 1993, thus he would have turned 18 on August 1, 2011. RP 18. Furthermore, Finding of Fact #15 states the State's recommendation of the deferred disposition in the juvenile case was based upon a plea to two of the charges. CP 20. However, the State's offer indicates that the defendant had to plea to all counts charged for it to agree to the deferred disposition. CP 12, Exhibit 12. Additionally, Finding of Fact #16 states in pertinent part that "the defendant's attorney did not read this e-mail until after the defendant's birthday." CP 20. This is not consistent with the defendant's attorney testimony where she stated "I vaguely recall it... I don't know when it might have been received by me." RP 37. Thus, the defendant's attorney did not recall when she read the email, thus a date is unable to be assigned to when it was reviewed and there is no substantial evidence to support the finding.

Finding of Fact #14 states in pertinent part, "[h]ad any party noticed this fact and mentioned it, the court could have entered an order extending jurisdiction, and that would be the usual practice." CP 20. This portion of the finding requires the court to engage in speculation about the juvenile court's actions as well as those of the parties involved in the case.

Finding of Fact #19 states "[j]uvenile counsel's failure to note the defendant's age at arraignment and failure to then move to extend jurisdiction fell below the standard of a reasonably prudent attorney." CP 20. This statement while characterized as a finding contains both facts and a conclusion of law. The State does not dispute that Maynard's defense counsel in his juvenile case failed to note his age at his arraignment, nor does the State dispute that counsel failed to move to extend jurisdiction. However, the portion of the statement relating to whether or not defense counsel fell below the standard of a reasonably prudent defense attorney requires an analysis of the facts of a case, thus making it a conclusion, not a fact. There is no evidence that demonstrates this statement. It is only once the facts of the case are analyzed that a court may reach that conclusion. Therefore, it should not be included as a finding of fact.

12

Finding of Fact #20 states "[h]ad juvenile court defense counsel timely moved to extend jurisdiction, the court could have granted the motion without objection from the state or the probation department and the defendant could later have entered into the plea agreement with the state and obtained a deferred sentence. This is in line with standard practice." CP 20. This is entirely a hypothetical situation. There are no facts to prove or disprove this assertion as it is only that, an assertion of what could have happened. The court should not place itself in the position of fabricating a reality that did not nor does not exist.

Finding of Fact #21 states, "[j]uvenile court defense counsel's failure to note the defendant's age at arraignment and failure to then move to extend jurisdiction cause prejudice to the defendant through (1) the loss of juvenile court jurisdiction, and (2) the loss of an opportunity to obtain a deferred sentence." CP 20. Similar to the preceding argument the State does not dispute defense counsel failure to note the age of her client at arraignment, nor the failure to move for an extension of jurisdiction. However, the State proffers that the rest of the finding is not a fact, but a conclusion that relies on facts presented, thus it should not be included as a finding of fact.

B. PREACCUSATORIAL DELAY DID NOT EXIST AS THE DEFENDANT WAS ARRAIGNED PRIOR TO HIS EIGHTEENTH BIRTHDAY.

A delay in prosecution may violate a defendant's due process rights. To determine whether the delay "violates those 'fundamental conceptions of justice which lie at the base of our civil and political institutions,' and which define 'the community's sense of fair play and decency'" the court has developed a three prong test. <u>State v. Oppelt</u>, 172 Wash.2d 285, 289, 257 P.3d 653 (2011), <u>citing United States v. Lovasco</u>, 431 U.S. 783, 790, 52 L.Ed.2d 752 (1977). First, the defendant must show he was prejudiced by the delay; second, the court must determine the reasons for the delay; and third the court must then weigh the reasons and the prejudice to determine whether fundamental conceptions of justice would be violated by allowing prosecution. <u>Oppelt</u>, 172 Wash.2d at 295.

When a defendant loses juvenile court jurisdiction, the defendant carries his burden of showing minimal prejudice. See e.g. <u>State v. Lidge</u>, 111 Wash.2d 845, 848-49, 765 P.2d 1292 (1989), <u>State v. Schifferl</u>, 51 Wash.App. 268, 270, 753 P.2d 549 (1988). A deliberate delay to circumvent the juvenile justice system clearly violates due process. <u>State v. Alvin</u>, 109 Wash.2d 602, 604, 746 P.2d 807 (1987). However, only in certain circumstances does a negligent delay arise to this level. See id.

In determining the cause of delay, courts find requests for additional investigation, even if fruitless, do not amount to deliberate or negligent delay. <u>See Lidge</u>, 111 Wash.2d at 849-52. Courts do not hold the investigation of juvenile matters to a greater or lesser degree than adult investigations. <u>See id.</u> at 849. Additionally, the determination of sufficient evidence for filing charges is left to the expansive discretion of the prosecution. <u>See id.</u> at 850. Courts warn that

the Due Process Clause does not permit courts to abort criminal prosecutions simply because they disagree with a prosecutor's judgment as to when to seek an indictment. Judges are not free, in defining "due process," to impose on law enforcement officials our "personal and private notions" of fairness and to "disregard the limits that bind judges in their judicial function."

<u>Id. citing Lovasco</u>, 431 U.S. at 790. Courts state "[f]orcing prosecutors to proceed precipitously may waste scarce resources on cases in which the defendant's guilt cannot be established beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Id</u>. In <u>State v. Warner</u>, 125 Wa.2d 876, at 890, 889 P.2d 479 (1995), the Supreme Court listed the following legitimate reasons for a delay in filing charges: (1) "sequential prosecution in order to secure the testimony of a codefendant" (<u>State v. Dixon</u>, 114 Wash.2d at 857, 861, 792 P.2d 137(1990); <u>State v. Boseck</u> 45 Wash.App. 62, 67, 723 P.2d 1182 (1986));

(2) "waiting for lab results because of backlog at state crime lab" (State v. Calderon, 102 Wash.2d 348, 354, 684 P.2d 1293 (1984); (3) 55-day delay between confession and filing during "ongoing large scale undercover drug buying operation" (State v. Robbers, 46 Wash.App. 558, 564-65, 731 P.2d 522 (1986), review denied, 108 Wash.2d 1005 (1987)); and (4) 1.5month delay between signed confession and filing due to "routine administrative practices such as vacation time, compensation time, and training time" (State v. Alvin, 109 Wash.2d 602, 605-06, 746 P.2d 807 (1987)). In addition, the courts have found no unreasonable delay for a failure to file when (1) a police referral was received by the State 15 days prior to the defendant's eighteenth birthday (State v. Anderson, 46 Wash.App. 565, 569-70, 731 P.2d 519 (1986), review denied, 108 Wash.2d 1005 (1987)); and (2) the defendant was arrested 23 days before his eighteenth birthday, the State requested additional investigation 20 days before the birthday, the investigation was completed and received 13 days before the birthday, but there was not enough time left before the birthday to file charges and arraign the defendant (State v. Lidge, 111 Wash.2d at 845, 765 P.2d 1292). The Washington Supreme Court has gone so far to say it would require unusual circumstances to merit dismissal solely on the grounds of frustration of the purposes of the

Juvenile Justice Act. <u>State v. Cantrell</u>, 111 Wash.2d 385, 391, 758 P.2d 1 (1988).

In the present case, the State followed its usual process and procedures. The Deputy assigned the case promptly reviewed the police reports and directed the officer to perform reasonable additional investigation. In light of the above cited cases, there is no evidence the State acted with deliberate delay.

The question before the court is did the State act with negligent delay violating the fundamental concept of justice. In comparison with <u>Alvin</u> and <u>Schifferl</u>, the State's actions were inadvertent at most. The final police report with all of the requested information was received two months before the Defendant's eighteenth birthday. Upon receipt of the final information on May 25th, 2011, the State once again reviewed the full report and made a charging decision on June 16th, 2011. It is clear in case law, the State is not required to keep track of a defendant's birthday, but upon realizing the potential of losing jurisdiction, the State did everything in its power to attempt to gain jurisdiction. The State at realizing the need, contacted defense counsel and alerted her to the birth date of her client and inquired as to what course of action defense counsel wanted to take. There was no response on defense counsel's part. The State did

everything in its power to aid the defendant in obtaining juvenile jurisdiction.

In balancing the interests of the State against the Defendant's interests, there is no evidence of a violation of the fundamental concept of justice. As in <u>Alvin</u> and <u>Shifferl</u>, the Defendant is not entitled to a perfect process, simply meaningful process.

Furthermore, there is a major distinguishing factor between the cases cited involving preaccusatorial delay and the instant case. Each of those cases had a defendant who was never charged in a juvenile court. Due to timing issues those individuals were all filed against as adults, they never had the opportunity to appear in juvenile court. Here, the defendant made two separate appearances in the juvenile court prior to turning eighteen. RCW 13.40.300 provides guidance for the issue at hand. It states in pertinent part,

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