NO. 43204-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

VS.

CHRISTOPHER MAYNARD,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Respondent

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
C.	ARGUMENT
	I. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS EACH OF THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT
	II. ARRAIGNMENT PRIOR TO THE DEFENDANT'S EIGHTEENTH BIRTHDAY DOES NOT PRECLUDE DISMISSAL FOR PRE-ACCUSATORIAL DELAY IF, AS IN THE CASE AT BAR, THE STATE FILED BEFORE THE CASE COULD PROPERLY BE RESOLVED IN JUVENILE COURT
D.	CONCLUSION
E.	APPENDIX
	1. Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22
	2 United States Constitution Sixth Amendment 28

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page Federal Cases
<i>Church v. Kinchelse</i> , 767 F.2d 639 (9th Cir. 1985)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984)
United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 97 S.Ct. 2044, 52 L.Ed.2d 752 (1977)
State Cases
<i>In re Adoption of B.T.</i> , 150 Wn.2d 409, 78 P.3d 634 (2003) 14
In re Dalluge, 152 Wn.2d 772, 100 P.3d 279 (2004)
State v. Agee, 89 Wn.2d 416, 573 P.2d 355 (1977)
State v. Calderon, 102 Wn.2d 348, 684 P.2d 1293 (1984)
State v. Cobb, 22 Wn.App. 221, 589 P.2d 297 (1978)
State v. Ford, 110 Wn.2d 827, 755 P.2d 806 (1988)
State v. Frazier, 82 Wn.App. 576, 918 P.2d 964 (1996) 19-23
State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 782, 83 P.3d 410 (2004) 10
State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 870 P.2d 313 (1994) 9, 13
State v. Johnson, 29 Wn.App. 807, 631 P.2d 413 (1981)
State v. Lidge, 111 Wn.2d 845, 765 P.2d 1292 (1989)
State v. Nelson, 89 Wn.App. 179, 948 P.2d 1314 (1997)

State v. Sharon, 33 Wn.App. 491, 655 P.2d 1193 (1982)
State v. Warner, 125 Wn.2d 876, 889 P.2d 479 (1995)
Constitutional Provision
Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3
Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22
United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment
United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment
Statutes and Court Rules
ER 203
RAP 10.3(a)(6)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By information filed August 26, 2011, the Cowlitz County Prosecutor charged the defendant Christopher Maynard with once count of First Degree Malicious Mischief, and five counts of Third Degree Malicious Mischief. CP 1-3. The state alleged that the defendant committed these offenses in July and August of 2010 in the City of Woodland. Id. The defendant was born on August 1, 1993. CP 4. Consequently, the state alleged that he committed the offenses around the time of his seventeenth birthday. *Id.* Following arraignment, the defendant moved to dismiss the charge under two arguments: (1) that the state's negligent pre-accusatorial delay had robbed him of juvenile court jurisdiction, and (2) that he had been denied effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, when his appointed juvenile court attorney failed to move to extend juvenile court jurisdiction. CP 11, 82-90. The Affirmation of Counsel given in support of this motion included true and correct copies of the following documents for the court's consideration:

- (1) Probable Cause Statement dated 8/26/10;
- (2) Complaint and Affirmation for Search Warrant, Search Warrant, and Return of Service dated 8/18/10;
- (3) Consents to Search signed by Teresa Maynard on 8/18/10, by Vivian Fallis on 8/26/10, and by Douglas Maynard on 8/20/10;

- (4) Sworn written confession of Christopher Maynard signed on 8/18/10, Justin O'Connor signed on 8/18/10, Michelle Fallis signed on 8/25/10, and Andrew Fallis signed on 8/25/10; and
- (5) Woodland Police Department Narrative Report in case No. W10-2316 dated 8/26/10. The report shows that a copy was sent to the Cowlitz County Juvenile Court on September 14, 2010. The face sheet of the report bears a "Received" stamp from the Cowlitz County Prosecutor's Office dated 9/15/10, and a "Received" stamp from the Cowlitz County Juvenile Department dated November 29, 2010.
- (6) Information from *In re: Christopher Nelson Maynard*, No. 11-8-00242-2;
- (7) Notice and Summons to Juvenile Court from *In re: Christopher Nelson Maynard*, No. 11-8-00242-2;
- (8) Notice and Summons to Juvenile Court from *In re: Christopher Nelson Maynard*, No. 11-8-00242-2;
- (9) Probable Cause Statement from *In re: Christopher Nelson Maynard*, No. 11-8-00242-2;
- (10) Motion & Order to Dismiss from *In re: Christopher Nelson Maynard*, No. 11-8-00242-2;
- (11) The 7/3/11, 7/19/11, and 8/9/11 Minute Sheets from *In re: Christopher Nelson Maynard*, No. 11-8-00242-2, and
- (12) Cowlitz County Prosecutor's offer sheet from *In re: Christopher Nelson Maynard*, No. 11-8-00242-2.

CP 12-81.

The state responded to this argument by filing the Affidavit of Lacey Skalisky, the Deputy Prosecuting Attorney in charge of both the juvenile and adult case against the defendant. CP 91-94. However, the state did not call

any witnesses at the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, introduce any evidence, or contest the accuracy of the documents the defense had attached to its Affirmation of Counsel. RP 1-51. While the state did not introduce any evidence at the hearing, the defense did call and examine Tierra Busby, who had been the defendant's appointed counsel in the companion juvenile court proceeding, entitled *State of Washington v. Christopher Maynard*, No. 11-8-00242-2. RP 9-40. Following her testimony and argument by counsel, the court granted the defendant's motion and dismissed the charge. RP 51-54. The court later entered the following findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of its ruling:

FINDINGS OF FACT

- 1. In July and August of 2010, a number of businesses and non-profit organizations in the Woodland area were "tagged" by a small number of local youths. "Tagging" is an activity whereby a person paints graffiti on structures, usually with a mark or sign unique to the individual "tagger." The "tagged" structures were as follows: (1) the Woodland Little League playing fields on August 13, 2010; (2) a Columbia Mega Storage Moving Van on August 11th or 12th; (3) the Freedom Skateboard Park on August 17th; (4) the Woodland Auto Supply on August 17th; (5) a City of Woodland Maintenance shed on August 1st or 2nd; and (6) the Woodland Little League dugout on July 2nd.
- 2. On August 18, 2010, the day after the last incident, Woodland Police Officers Keller and Murray arrested the defendant for these crimes when the defendant went out to one of his last tagging sites to take pictures. At that time, the defendant had just turned 17-years-old. He was born on August 1, 1993.
 - 3. After the arrest, the officers took the defendant to the

Woodland Police station where he gave a lengthy and complete confession of all of his tagging activities, including a list of the other juveniles involved, whom the defendant referred to as his tagging crew. These people were Andrew Fallis (dob 7/13/94); Michelle Fallis (dob 12/19/92); Justin O'Conner (dob 7/7/95), Vincent Dizon (dob 3/27/95). On this same day, the officers secured the written confession of Justin O'Conner.

- 4. Based upon the information the defendant provided, the Woodland Officers obtained a search warrant, and on August 25, 2010, executed that warrant on a Woodland address and seized various items of evidence of the crimes the defendant and his "crew" had committed. On August 18th, 20th and 26th, the officers also searched the homes of the other suspects with the consent of the other suspects' parents.
- 5. On August 25, 2010, the officers secured the written confessions of Michelle Fallis and Andrew Fallis. By August 26th, 2010, the Woodland Officers finished their investigation in the case.
- 6. On September 14, 2010, the Woodland Officers forwarded their reports and supporting documents to the Cowlitz County Juvenile Court. These materials included a three and one-half page, sworn, single-spaced, typed probable cause statement dated August 26, 2011, that identified each victim, stated the exact amount of each victim's damages, identified each defendant and each defendant's confession, and included all the particulars of the police investigation.
- 7. The Cowlitz County Prosecutor's Office received the report, supporting materials and probable cause statement on September 15, 2010. The prosecutor assigned to the case then contacted the Woodland Police department to request more photographs and information about the reporting parties.
- 8. On November 17, 2011, the prosecutor assigned to the case received the requested information from the Woodland Police Department, and then forwarded all of the reports and supporting documents, along with the probable cause statement, to the Juvenile Court Probation Department for consideration for diversion.

- 9. On December 10, 2011, the Juvenile Court Probation Department returned the defendant's case to the prosecutor along with a note that it had been rejected for diversion.
- 10. Between December 10, 2011, and June 16, 2011, the prosecutor exchanged a number of e-mails with the Woodland Police department, seeking "more information, specifically in regards to restitution amounts owed to the victims." See Affirmation of Lacey Skalisky, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney. The state made these repeated requests in spite of the fact that the police reports and the probable cause statements already provided contained a detailed statement of the damages each victim had sustained.
- 11. On June 16, 2011, over 10 months after receiving the reports in this case, the Cowlitz County Prosecutor's Office prepared an information charging the defendant with five counts of malicious mischief. # 11-8-00242-2. There was also filed the investigating officer's probable cause statement dated August 26, 2010. Nothing had been added to the probable cause statement after the date it was originally signed.
- 12. The information was filed and probable cause statement in the juvenile court on July 7, 2011, and served the defendant with a summons to appear in court on July 12, 2011, which was 19 days before he turned 21-years-old.
- 13. On July 12, 2011, the defendant appeared on the summons, at which time the juvenile court appointed Tierra Busby to represent him. The court then put the matter over one week for arraignment. Although the normal procedure during the first appearance would have been for the court to extend jurisdiction for an offender such as the defendant who was close to turning eighteen years of age, the court did not do so in this case. Neither the court, the prosecutor and the probation officer in charge of the case mentioned that the defendant would be eighteen years old within a few weeks.
- 14. On July 19, 2011, the defendant appeared with his attorney and entered a plea of not guilty. The defendant's attorney did not note his birth date, although it was stated on the information. The court then set a pretrial of August 9, 2011, a readiness review of September 13, 2011, and a trial for September 15, 2011. The

defendant's attorney, the probation officer in charge of the case, the prosecutor and the court all missed the fact that each of these dates was set after the defendant's eighteenth birthday. Had any party noticed this fact and mentioned it, the court could have entered an order extending jurisdiction, and that would be the usual practice.

- 15. On July 25, 2011, the prosecutor sent an offer to the defendant's attorney than included a recommendation of deferred disposition upon a plea to two of the charges. This offer stated that it expired on August 9, 2011. After consultation with his attorney, the defendant agreed to accept this offer and his attorney told him that he could do so at his scheduled pretrial on August 9, 2011.
- 16. After sending the offer on July 25, 2011, the prosecutor finally noticed that the defendant was about to turn eighteen-years-old. She then sent an e-mail to the defendant's attorney so stating. The defendant's attorney did not read this e-mail until after the defendant's eighteenth birthday. As a result, when the defendant appeared for pretrial on August 9, 2011, the trial court dismissed the charges on the basis that the juvenile court had lost jurisdiction.
- 17. The state later filed a new information with the same charges in Cowlitz County Superior Court along with the probable cause statement dated August 26, 2010. The defendant later appeared pursuant to a summons, at which time the court appointed a new attorney to represent the defendant.
- 18. The defendant's new attorney filed a motion to dismiss the charges arguing that (1) negligent pre-accusatorial delay had denied him the benefit of juvenile court jurisdiction and a juvenile deferred sentence, and (2) that trial counsel's failure to move to extend juvenile court jurisdiction had denied him the right to effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.
- 19. Juvenile court defense counsel's failure to note the defendant's age at arraignment and failure to then move to extend jurisdiction fell below the standard of a reasonably prudent attorney.
 - 20. Had juvenile court defense counsel timely moved to extend

jurisdiction, the court could have granted the motion without objection from the state or the probation department and the defendant could later have entered into the plea agreement with the state and obtained a deferred sentence. This is in line with standard practice.

21. Juvenile court defense counsel's failure to note the defendant's age at arraignment and failure to then move to extend jurisdiction caused prejudice to the defendant through (1) the loss of juvenile court jurisdiction, and (2) the loss of an opportunity to obtain a deferred sentence.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

- 1. In State v. Lidge, 111 Wn.2d 845, 848, 765 P.2d 1292 (1989), the Washington Supreme, in reliance upon the decision of the United States Supreme Court in United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 97 S.Ct. 2044, 52 L.Ed.2d 752 (1977), set a three part test to determine whether preaccusatorial delay by the State in filing charges violates an individual's right to due process under circumstances in which juvenile court jurisdiction is lost as a result of the delay. This test provides as follows: (1) that the defendant show prejudice resulting from the delay; (2) that there are reasons for the delay which the court must consider; and (3) where the State can justify the delay, that the court engage in balancing the State's interest against the prejudice to the accused.
- 2. In the case at bar, the defendant has shown prejudice from the state's delay in filing the charges against him. First, he has shown the prejudice that arises from the loss of juvenile court jurisdiction. Second, he has shown the prejudice that arises from the loss of a juvenile deferred sentence, which would have also been a significant benefit to him. The prosecutor's offer of deferred disposition was extant at the time the defendant turned 18.
- 3. The court finds the state's reasons for the delay in filing the information in juvenile court to be unjustified. Specifically, the only reason the state has identified for the delay is its repeated requests for information about restitution that the Woodland Police Department had already provided in its initial reports and probable cause statement.

- 4. Even were the state able to justify the delay in filing, the balancing between the State's interest in proceeding with the case is outweighed by the prejudice to the defendant. Specifically, the crimes are non-violent Class C felonies from which the victims could seek civil remedies from the defendant. As such, they are relatively minor compared to the vast majority of felony offenses that the prosecutor charges. By comparison, the effect of the felony convictions upon the defendant, who has no prior felonies, is significant and outweighs the state's interest.